# COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Appellant,

V.

AMBER WRIGHT,

Respondent.

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

ROBERT M. MCKENNA Attorney General

JOHN D. CLARK Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 28537 7141 Cleanwater Dr. SW PO Box 40124 Olympia, WA 98504-0124 (360) 586-6565

##

#### I. INTRODUCTION

This is a case brought solely under the Public Records Act (PRA), RCW 42.56 involving two record requests and four records. One record is exempt from production under the PRA because its confidentiality and disclosure is governed exclusively by RCW 13.50. The second record (also governed by RCW 13.50) did not exist at the time of either records request; it was created specifically as a courtesy for the plaintiff and provided immediately after it was created. The remaining two records were not requested in either of the records requests at issue here.

Here, the trial court should have dismissed the case at the outset because it was filed after the applicable statute of limitations ran. Ms. Wright commenced this PRA litigation 22 months after the one-year statute of limitations in RCW 42.56.550(6) had run as to the first records request, and nearly five months after it had run as to the second request.

In addition, the trial court erred by refusing to apply RCW 13.50 to any of the records. To the extent the trial court even addressed compliance with the PRA, it applied the wrong standards, treating the matter as a discovery dispute in a tort action. The Department of Social and Health Services (Department) did not violate the PRA, and the trial court's findings of fact and conclusions of law are not supported by the evidence in the record.

Having extensively erred in its legal analysis, the trial court then also abused its discretion by awarding \$649,896.87 in penalties, costs, and attorney fees for the alleged withholding of the four documents. This amount is grossly disproportionate to the *alleged* PRA violation.

This Court should vacate the trial court's judgment awarding penalties, costs, and attorney fees and dismiss the case for failure to comply with the applicable statute of limitations. In the alternative, this Court should reverse findings of fact that are not supported by substantial evidence; rule that as a matter of law the Department did not violate the PRA; and vacate the trial court's judgment awarding penalties, costs, and attorney fees. Finally, if this Court holds that the Department violated the PRA then it should reverse and vacate the penalties, costs, and attorney fees award, because of an abuse of discretion, and determine the proper calculation of penalties, costs, and attorney fees.

#### II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The trial court erred by refusing to dismiss the case because it was filed after the applicable statute of limitations had run.
- 2. The trial court erred by entering Findings of Fact (FOF) 4, 5, and 6 in its September 1, 2011 order, <sup>1</sup> finding that the audio recording, interview transcription, foster care/adoption manual, and investigation

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> A copy of the trial court's September 1, 2011 order is attached as Appendix A.

protocols were responsive to the plaintiff's records requests. Evidence in the record does not support FOF 4, 5, and 6.

- 3. The trial court erred by entering FOF 7 in its September 1, 2011 order, finding that the Department failed to provide a privilege log for withheld documents. Evidence in the record does not support FOF 7.
- 4. The trial court erred by entering Conclusions of Law (COL) 1 and 2 in its September 1, 2011 order, because the case was not filed until after the applicable statute of limitations had run.
- 5. The trial court erred by entering COL 3 in its September 1, 2011 order, where the audio recording, although overlooked initially, was produced pursuant to RCW 13.50.100 before this case was filed, and the transcription was produced as a courtesy for the requester and did not exist at the time of either records request.
- 6. The trial court erred by entering COL 4 and 5 in its September 1, 2011 order, because neither record had been requested in the plaintiff's records requests.
- 7. The trial court erred by entering COL 6 in its September 1, 2011 order, because the Department is not required to make a privilege log when no records are withheld.
- 8. The trial court erred by entering COL 7 and 8 in its September 1, 2011 order, because the case was not filed until after all

applicable statutes of limitation had run, and the evidence and argument in the record shows that no violation of the PRA occurred.

- 9. The trial court erred in ordering \$649,896.87 in penalties, costs, and fees against the Department, because the case was filed after the statute of limitations had run and each element of the award was error.
- 10. The trial court erred by entering FOF and COL 1 to 4 in its November 18, 2011 judgment.<sup>2</sup> These findings and conclusions state that there was an "obstruction of justice" meriting penalties of \$100 per day, totaling \$287,800.00. The finding and conclusions are not supported by the evidence in the record or a full and fair consideration of the *Yousoufian* factors and constitute an abuse of discretion.
- 11. The trial court erred by entering FOF and COL 1 to 4 in its November 18, 2011 judgment, awarding \$346,000.00 in attorney fees. These findings are not supported by adequate documentation and were entered without giving the Department a fair opportunity to respond to the documentation provided to the trial court. The court abused its discretion by accepting inflated per hour billing rates and applying an unwarranted lodestar multiplier, resulting in an attorney fee award of \$1,000 per hour.
- 12. The trial court erred by entering FOF and COL 1 to 4 in its November 18, 2011 judgment, awarding litigation costs of \$16,096.87.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> A copy of the November 18, 2011 judgment is attached as Appendix B.

The trial court abused its discretion by including impermissible expenditures as part of its cost award.

#### III. STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. Did the trial court err by refusing to dismiss Plaintiff's public records action, which was not commenced until 22 months after the statute of limitations in RCW 42.56.550(6) ran on her 2007 request, and nearly five months after the statute of limitations ran on her 2008 request? (Assignments of Error 1, 4, 8, 9.)
- 2. Did the trial court err by finding a violation of the PRA and imposing penalties for a recorded interview that is confidential and discloseable only as provided in RCW 13.50, and exempt from disclosure under the PRA? (Assignments of Error 2, 5, 8, 9, 10.)
- 3. Did the trial court err by finding a violation of the PRA and imposing penalties for an interview transcription that is confidential and discloseable only as provided in RCW 13.50, exempt from disclosure under the PRA, and that did not exist at the time the records requests were made? (Assignments of Error 2, 5, 8, 9, 10.)
- 4. Did the trial court err by finding a violation of the PRA and imposing penalties for two records (a DSHS foster care/adoption manual, and an investigative protocols document for Pierce County) that were not requested in either public record request filed by Plaintiff's attorneys?

(Assignments of Error 2, 6, 8, 9, 10.)

- 5. Did the trial court err by finding a violation of the PRA and imposing penalties for the Department's failure to provide a privilege log when no records were withheld? (Assignments of Error 3, 7, 8, 9, 10.)
- 6. Did the trial court err by treating the records requests as discovery requests and applying poorly articulated discovery standards to assess the Department's compliance with the applicable statutes, RCW 42.56 and RCW 13.50, rather than applying the language of the statutes and the published appellate decisions interpreting those statutes? (Assignments of Error 2, 3, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10.)
- 7. Did the trial court err by ordering penalties of \$100 per day, totaling \$287,800.00, where (1) the Department fully complied with the PRA by timely providing thousands of pages of records in response to two records requests; (2) the single record the Department inadvertently failed initially to produce is not subject to the PRA—it is confidential and may be disclosed only under RCW 13.50—and where the Department sua sponte corrected its oversight and provided that record before the plaintiff commenced this untimely PRA action; and (3) even if there had been noncompliance with the PRA, the superior court abused its discretion by failing to fully and fairly consider and apply the *Yousoufian* factors in calculating the penalty. (Assignments of Error 9, 10.)

- 8. Did the trial court abuse its discretion by awarding attorney fees of \$346,000, corresponding to as much as \$1,000 per hour, without adequate documentation in the record, without giving the Department a fair opportunity to respond to the documentation provided to the trial court, and without adequate justification for applying an unwarranted lodestar multiplier? (Assignments of Error 9, 11.)
- 9. Did the trial court abuse its discretion by including impermissible expenditures as part of its award of \$16,096.87 in litigation costs? (Assignments of Error 9, 12.)

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### A. Ms. Wright's 2007 Records Request

On March 26, 2007, the Department's South Bend Children's Administration field office received a letter from Carter Hick "on behalf of Amber Wright as her lawyer" requesting a copy of her "entire DSHS file." RP at 88 (Aug. 31, 2011); Ex. 1 at 1.<sup>3</sup> The letter was processed by Diane Fuller, a supervisor and social worker. RP at 88 (Aug. 31, 2011).

On March 30, 2007, within five business days, Ms. Fuller responded in writing to Mr. Hick, informing him (1) that he needed to provide a release of information signed by his client to obtain the Children's Administration file for Ms. Wright; (2) that once the release

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> A copy of the 2007 records request is attached as Appendix C.

was provided, he would "receive the requested information under RCW 13.50"; and (3) that the entire file was five volumes and processing would take approximately 60 days. RP at 89-91 (Aug. 31, 2011); Ex. 202. Ms. Fuller faxed him the authorization form with her response. Ex. 202.

On May 7, 2007, Ms. Fuller received a letter from Mr. Hick that included a signed authorization and confirmed that he was requesting "Amber's entire DSHS file." RP at 91-92 (Aug. 31, 2011); Ex. 203 at 1. The next day she sent Mr. Hick a letter acknowledging receipt of Ms. Wright's authorization and confirming that he was requesting records only from Children's Administration, and not from other administrations in the Department. Ex. 204. Mr. Hick never contacted Ms. Fuller to indicate that he wanted any records other than Ms. Wright's Children's Administration file. RP at 94 (Aug. 31, 2011).

On June 1, 2007, the Department sent Mr. Hick a copy of Ms. Wright's Children's Administration file (approximately 2,200 pages). RP at 94-95 (Aug. 31, 2011); Ex. 205. In a cover letter, Ms. Fuller indicated which records were withheld and briefly explained why they were withheld. RP at 94-95 (Aug. 31, 2011); Ex. 205. She received no further communication from Mr. Hick. RP at 97 (Aug. 31, 2011).

#### B. Ms. Wright's 2008 Records Request

On May 20, 2008, the Department received a seven-page records

request from David Moody, as attorney for Ms. Wright. RP at 106 (Aug. 31, 2011); Ex. 206.<sup>4</sup> The request stated it was made "[p]ursuant to RCW 42.56 *et seq.* and RCW 13.50 *et seq.*" Ex. 206.<sup>5</sup> The request included signed authorizations to release protected information. Ex. 206. All of the categories of records requested in the lengthy request were for records involving Ms. Wright and her father, David Wright. Ex. 206.

On May 28, 2008, within five business days,<sup>6</sup> Susan Muggoch, the Children's Administration Public Disclosure Supervisor at the time, sent Mr. Moody a letter acknowledging receipt of the request for records. RP at 107-08 (Aug. 31, 2011); Ex. 207. She also explained the statutory authority for producing the confidential records:

Amber's Children's Administration records are confidential child welfare records and are exempt from public disclosure per RCW 42.56.230(1), RCW 74.04.050 and 13.50.100(2). Her authorization permits them to be disclosed to you under RCW 13.50.100(7), and they will be provided to you under that statute.

Ex. 207 at 1. The letter estimated the records would be produced within 120 business days and stated the request was being forwarded to other administrations within the Department that might have responsive records.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> A copy of the 2008 records request is attached as Appendix D. This is Ex. 206 at 1-7 (the signed authorizations in Ex. 206 at 8-15 are not part of Appendix D).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> RCW 42.56 is the Public Records Act. RCW 13.50 addresses the "keeping and release of records by juvenile justice and care agencies."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> May 28, 2008 was the fifth business day after the May 20th request because Monday, May 26, 2008 was a federal and state holiday (Memorial Day).

RP at 108-09 (Aug. 31, 2011); Ex. 207 at 1. The request in fact was forwarded. RP at 109-10 (Aug. 31, 2011); Ex. 208 at 1, 19.

On June 10, 2008, unhappy with the time estimate provided by the Department, Mr. Moody sent a letter threatening a lawsuit if all documents were not produced within 40 days. RP at 110-11 (Aug. 31, 2011); Ex. 209. Ms. Muggoch responded on June 20, 2008, explaining the reasons for the time estimate provided on this large request. RP at 112 (Aug. 31, 2011); Ex. 210.<sup>7</sup>

On July 24, 2008 (45 business days after the initial records request), Kristal Wiitala, the Department's Public Disclosure and Privacy Officer, provided 68 pages of responsive documents to Mr. Moody. RP at 103, 115-16 (Aug. 31, 2011); Ex. 211. Her cover letter explained that she was producing the records "from parts of DSHS other than Children's Administration, which will respond separately." Ex. 211. One additional page was located and produced in a second installment on July 31, 2008, with a cover letter stating, "[t]his mailing completes the response to your request from parts of DSHS other than the Children's Administration." RP at 117 (Aug. 31, 2011). The Department provided these two record installments to comply with the PRA. RP at 118

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> On July 1, 2008, Ms. Wright filed a public records lawsuit against the Department regarding the March 20, 2008 request, but she moved for voluntary dismissal on April 22, 2009, and that lawsuit was dismissed. RP at 113 (Aug. 31, 2011); CP at 9.

(Aug. 31, 2011).

On October 30, 2008, Children's Administration responded separately to Mr. Moody's 2008 request by releasing 2,864 pages relating to Amber Wright's child welfare files. RP at 150-51 (Aug. 31, 2011); Ex. 213. Unlike the records provided by Ms. Wiitala, these records are exempt from the PRA; Barbara McPherson, the Children's Administration Public Disclosure Coordinator, explained in a cover letter that the records were produced under RCW 13.50.100. RP at 152 (Aug. 31, 2011); Ex. 213.8

Children's Administration sent a second and final installment of 552 pages to Mr. Moody on November 14, 2008, which consisted of the Children's Administration's electronic record for Ms. Wright. RP at 152-53 (Aug. 31, 2011); Ex. 214. This final installment also included a cover letter from Ms. McPherson explaining that the records were provided pursuant to RCW 13.50.100. Ex. 214. Thus, a total 3,416 pages of Amber Wright's child welfare records were provided to Mr. Moody by November 14, 2008, within the 120 business day estimate originally provided by the Department. *See* Exs. 207 at 1, 213, 214.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> This production included the five volumes previously produced in response to Ms. Wright's 2007 request, plus additional records that had been assembled in the intervening time. CP at 160.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Barbara McPherson testified that this final installment continued from the numbering sequence in the prior installment, and the correct numbering for this final installment was 2865 to 3416. RP at 153-54 (Aug. 31, 2011); Ex. 214.

None of the installments from Children's Administration that responded to Ms. Wright's 2007 and 2008 record requests included any of the four records that are the subject of this appeal.

## C. The Four Records That Are The Subject Of This Public Records Act Lawsuit

The four records at issue in this PRA lawsuit were provided to Mr. Moody after the Department completed its responses to the 2007 and 2008 record requests, and before this PRA lawsuit was filed on April 6, 2010. *See* Exs. 5, 6, 215; CP at 1.

#### 1. The Recorded Child Interview And Transcription

In November 2009, Children's Administration discovered that an audio CD in the back of Amber Wright's file had not been copied and provided to Mr. Moody. RP at 155-56 (Aug. 31, 2011); Ex. 215. The CD contained a recorded interview of Ms. Wright in November 2005, when she was a minor, as part of an abuse investigation. *See* Exs. 4, 215.

Children's Administration had the recorded child interview copied and—as a courtesy to Mr. Moody—also had it transcribed. The transcription was created in December 2009 and did not exist at the time of either the 2007 or the 2008 record requests. RP at 135, 156 (Aug. 31, 2011); Ex. 215. Ms. McPherson sent Mr. Moody copies of the CD and transcription on December 11, 2009. RP at 155-57 (Aug. 31,

2011); Ex. 215. The cover letter apologized for the delay, explaining that the recorded child interview had just been found and transcribed and that the copies were being provided pursuant to RCW 13.50.100. Ex. 215.

#### 2. The PRIDE Manual

Separate from this PRA lawsuit, Ms. Wright filed a tort action against the Department in federal court. Ex. 230 at 2.<sup>10</sup> Responding to a request from Marty McLean (an associate of Mr. Moody) in that case, assistant attorney general John McIlhenny sent Mr. Moody a letter on March 4, 2010, that included a copy of the "DSHS Foster/Adoption PRIDE Manual." RP at 60 (Aug. 31, 2011); Exs. 5 and 6.<sup>11</sup>

The 2007 and 2008 requests for records asked for Amber Wright's Children's Administration file and for other documents specifically related to Ms. Wright or her father. Exs. 1, 206 at 1-7. This PRIDE Manual is not a part of Amber Wright's Children's Administration file and is not specific to her; the PRIDE Manual is a Department training manual for foster parents and potential adoptive parents. RP at 96, 159 (Aug. 31, 2011); CP at 709-10. It is not related to any particular person. 12

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> U.S. District Court, W.D. Wash. at Tacoma, Cause No. C09-5126RJB. Ex. 230 at 2. Mr. Moody represents Ms. Wright in that case, CP at 15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Mr. McIlhenny represented the Department in the federal case. He has never represented the Department in this PRA lawsuit; the assistant attorney general representing the Department in this matter has always been John Clark. CP at 708-09.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> The 678 page PRIDE Manual was developed by the Child Welfare League of America and Illinois Department of Children and Family Services. CP at 710, 719-22.

Accordingly, the Department did not consider the PRIDE Manual responsive to the 2007 or 2008 requests for records. RP at 159-60 (Aug. 31, 2011). It was never produced in response to either records request. Ex. 6; CP at 709.

#### 3. The Investigative Protocols Document

On March 16, 2010, Mr. McIlhenny sent Mr. Moody a letter providing supplemental discovery in the federal tort action. Ex. 5 at 1. The supplemental discovery included a 57-page Investigative Protocols document for Pierce County, Washington. Ex. 5 at 3.

Like the PRIDE manual, this Investigative Protocols document is not a part of Amber Wright's Children's Administration file and is not specific to her. RP at 96-97, 159 (Aug. 31, 2011); Ex. 5 (generally at 2 to 59); CP at 709. Instead, this document establishes joint protocols with Pierce County law enforcement for investigating sexual and physical child abuse. Ex. 5 at 2-59; CP at 709. Like the PRIDE Manual, it is not related to any particular person and, like the PRIDE Manual, the Department did not consider the Investigative Protocols document responsive to the 2007 or 2008 requests for records. RP at 159 (Aug. 31, 2011). It was never produced in response to either request. Ex. 5 at 1; CP at 709.

#### D. Procedural History

Ms. Wright filed this PRA lawsuit on April 6, 2010. CP at 1. The

only cause of action is alleged violations of the PRA under "RCW 42.56 et seq." 13 CP at 5. She did not file an action seeking her child welfare records in juvenile court or claim any right under RCW 13.50. CP at 1, 5.

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