No. 42647-1-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Appellant,

v.

AMBER WRIGHT,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

HAGENS BERMAN SOBOL SHAPIRO, LLP

David P. Moody, WSBA #22853 Marty D. McLean, WSBA #33269 1918 Eight Avenue, Suite 3300 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 623-7292

CONNOLLY TACON & MESERVE, PC

Carter W. Hick, WSBA #36721 201 5th Ave. SW, Suite 301 Olympia, Washington 98501 (360) 943-6747

Attorneys for Respondent



COURTS OF APPEALS

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

IV. LEGAL ARGUMENT

A. Construing the Public Records Act

The Public Records Act is found at RCW 42.56. RCW 42.56.030 contains the Legislature's mandate regarding how the Act must be construed:

The people of this state do not yield their sovereignty to the agencies that serve them. The people, in delegating authority, do not give their public servants the right to decide what is good for the people to know and what is not good for them to know. The people insist on remaining informed so that they may maintain control over the instruments that they have created. This chapter shall be liberally construed and its exemptions narrowly construed to promote this public policy and to assure that the public interest will be fully protected.

The Public Records Act is of great importance. The Supreme Court of the State of Washington states that it:

[I]s nothing less than the preservation of the most central tenets of representative government, namely, the sovereignty of the people and the accountability to the people of public officials and institutions . . . Without tools such as the Public Records Act, government of the people, by the people, for the people, risks becoming government of the people, by the bureaucrats, for the special interests.

* * * * *

A popular government, without popular information, or the means of acquiring it, is but a prologue to a farce or a tragedy, or, perhaps both.

Progressive Animal Welfare Society v. The University of Washington, 125 Wn.2d 243, 251 (1994) (internal citations omitted).

Because the Public Records Act "is a strongly worded mandate for broad disclosure of public records" it must be construed liberally in favor of disclosure of records and its exemptions narrowly applied. *Soter v. Cowles Publishing Co.*, 162 Wn.2d 716, 730-731 (2007).

B. Burden of Proof Under the Public Records Act

An agency may be found to have violated the Public Records Act in four distinct ways: (1) by improperly withholding records; (2) by unreasonably delaying the fulfillment of a record request; (3) by failing to provide a privilege log explaining the legal justification for the withholding or redaction of information; or (4) failing to conduct a reasonable search for responsive records. See RCW 42.56.550(1) & (2); see also Neighborhood Alliance of Spokane County v. County of Spokane, 172 Wn.2d 702 (2011); Sanders v. State of Washington, 169 Wn.2d 827 (2010); Yousoufian v. King County, 152 Wn.2d 421 (2004).

The Act imposes a positive duty upon state agencies to disclose public records unless the records fall within a specific statutory exemption. *See Hearst Corp.*, v. Hoppe, 90 Wn.2d 123, 130 (1978). An agency bears the heavy burden of proving that its refusal to disclose public records is in accordance with a statute that exempts or prohibits disclosure. *See* RCW 42.56.550(1) & (2); *see also Dawson v. Daly*, 120 Wn. 2d 782, 789 (1993). *Rental Housing Ass'n of Puget Sound*, 165 Wn.2d 525 (2009).

The Public Records Act is strictly enforced:

[S]trict enforcement of this provision discourages improper denial of access to public records. A showing of bad faith is not required nor does good faith reliance on an exemption exonerate an agency that mistakenly relies upon that exemption.

Spokane Research & Defense Fund v. City of Spokane, 155 Wn.2d 89, 101 (2005); see also Zink v. City of Mesa, 140 Wn. App. 328, 338 (2007) (Public Records Act requires strict compliance rather than substantial compliance on part of responding agency).

C. Amber's Lawsuit was Timely Filed

1. DSHS Produced Records Responsive to Amber's Requests as Late as December 2009

DSHS' initial assignment of error is that the trial court incorrectly denied summary judgment based upon the statute of limitations. The statute of limitations for Public Records Act lawsuits is governed by RCW 42.56.550(6):

Actions under this section must be filed within one year of the agency's claim of exemption *or the last production of a record on a partial or installment basis*. (Emphasis supplied).

As discussed above, DSHS continued to produce records responsive to Amber's March 2007 and May 2008 requests, as late as December 2009. Ex. 4. There is no question that the audio recording wherein Amber disclosed the nature and severity of her sexual victimization was a part of her DSHS file. Amber made her disclosure to

DSHS personnel and the recording was maintained with Amber's DSHS records. Ex. 7; RP 169 (8/31/2011). This record was responsive to each request made by Amber.

The attorneys representing DSHS made clear that the audio recording would be provided pursuant to Amber's public records requests:

I have learned that the audio recording referred to at the bottom of page 7 of your November 9, 2009 letter has been located by DSHS. I understand <u>DSHS</u> will provide you with that recording and a transcript of that recording pursuant to the public records request. (Emphasis supplied).

Amber's Public Records Act lawsuit was filed less than five months after DSHS produced the audio recording "pursuant to the public records request." Consequently, the trial court denied DSHS' motion for summary judgment because Amber complied with the one-year statute of limitations.

2. DSHS Has Never Provided a Privilege Log

A second basis for denying DSHS' motion for summary judgment regarding the statute of limitations is that no privilege log has <u>ever</u> been provided. Washington law recognizes that an agency's response to a public records request is not complete, and the statute of limitation does not commence, until the agency specifies each exemption claimed. *See*

⁴ In fact, DSHS continued to produce records responsive to Amber's May 2008 request as late as March 2010. Exs. 5 and 6.

Rental Housing Ass'n of Puget Sound v. City of Des Moines, 165 Wn.2d 525, 541 (2009).

In particular, the Supreme Court mandated that a privilege log must be provided whenever records are withheld. The privilege log must:

(1) adequately describe individually the withheld records by stating the type of record withheld, date, number of pages, and author/recipient or (2) explain which individual exemption applied to which individual record rather than generally asserting....exemptions as to all withheld documents.

See Rental Housing Ass'n, 165 Wn.2d at 539-540.

Supreme Court authority makes clear that this requirement applies when an agency withholds or redacts information from a Public Records Act request. See Sanders v. State of Washington, 169 Wn.2d 827, 846 (2010) (agency withholding or redacting any record must specify the exemption and give a brief explanation of how the exemption applies to the document). Failure to provide a privilege log is, by itself, a violation of the Public Records Act. *Id.* at 842.

Here, there is no dispute that DSHS withheld and redacted information from Amber's March 2007 and May 2008 Public Records Act requests. Diane Fuller was the DSHS employee who responded to Amber's March 2007 request. RP 88-89 (8/31/2011). Ms. Fuller's June 1, 2007 letter to Amber's attorney makes clear that information was

"removed or redacted." CP 156-157. At trial, Ms. Fuller reiterated that DSHS withheld and redacted information from the March 2007 request:

- Q: And what was the purpose of sending [Mr. Hick] this letter?
- A: It was to explain what had been withdrawn from the file, if there had been any redactions, to clarify what it was that was forwarded to him.
- Q: Were there any pages you did not give to Mr. Hick out of the file?
- **A:** Yes. RP 94-95 (8/31/2011).

Despite withholding and redacting information, DSHS did not provide Amber with the legal authority justifying its claimed exemptions:

- Q: Now, in your letter where you are describing records withheld from Amber's request, you would agree with me that you don't provide any sort of legal authority as to why you're withholding each individual record?
- **A:** That's correct.
- Q: You didn't provide Amber's attorney or Amber with what's called a privilege log in response to her request, correct?
- **A:** Correct. RP 101 (8/31/2011).

Kristal Wiitala and Barbara McPherson were the DSHS' employees responsible for responding to Amber's May 2008 request. RP 105-106; 148-149 (8/31/2011). Ms. Wiitala admitted that information was withheld and/or redacted from Amber's May 2008 request. RP 116 (8/31/2011). But, no privilege log was ever provided.

Ms. McPherson testified that all DSHS records, even those from Children's Administration, are public records. RP 161 (8/31/2011).

However, Ms. McPherson claimed that all of the records that Amber requested in her May 2008 request were exempt from the Public Records Act. RP 162 (8/31/2011). Despite claiming an exemption for virtually all of its Children's Administration records responsive to Amber's May 2008 request, DSHS did not provide a privilege log, as required:

- Q: And did you provide a privilege log? I mean your exempting an entire portion of the DSHS file from the Public Records Act. Did you provide a privilege log in conjunction with your asserted exemptions?
- **A:** No, we did not. RP 167-168 (8/31/2011).

Regardless of whether one measures the statute of limitations in terms of the last production of records (December 2009), or by the production of a privilege log (never), Amber's Complaint was filed within the statute of limitations.

DSHS continued to provide records responsive to each of Amber's requests (March 2007 and May 2008) as late as December 9, 2009.

Because Amber filed the lawsuit in April 2010, it was timely.

Moreover, DSHS has <u>never</u> provided a privilege log detailing the legal authority, or other required information, supporting its claimed

exemptions. Consequently, as recognized in *Rental Housing*, the statute of limitations has not *commenced*, let alone expired.

D. DSHS Cannot Satisfy its Burden of Proof that the Audio Recording is Exempt from the Public Records Act

DSHS next claims that RCW 13.50 *et seq.* exempted the audio recording from the Public Records Act. Appellant's Brief, p. 26-32.

DSHS argues that because it is a "juvenile justice or care agency" under RCW 13.50.010, *all* of the records of its sub-agency, the Children's Administration, are exempt from the Public Records Act. *Id.* at 32.

While DSHS relies upon the definition section of RCW 13.50.010 to establish that it is a "juvenile justice or care agency," it ignores the statute's definition regarding the "records" to which the law was intended to apply. RCW 13.50.010(c) lists the types of records subject to that statute's protections to be a circumscribed class of dependency documents typically maintained by the juvenile court system:

"Records" means the official juvenile court file, the social file, and records of any other juvenile justice or care agency in the case.

The "official juvenile court" file is:

[T]he legal file of the juvenile court containing the petition or information, motions, memorandums, briefs, findings of the court, and court orders.

RCW 13.50.010(b). The "social file" is "the juvenile court file containing the records and reports of the probation counselor." *See* RCW 13.50.010(d).

For the audio recording to be exempt from the Public Records Act, DSHS was required to prove that it falls within the class of "records" to which RCW 13.50 applies. At trial, DSHS offered *no* evidence that the audio recording was a "record" as defined in RCW 13.50.010. Likewise, DSHS' appellate brief is devoid of any citation to evidence demonstrating that the recording is a "record" as that term is defined in RCW 13.50.010, nor that the recording was used in a dependency case.⁵

The Public Records Act makes clear that an agency claiming that an otherwise "public record" is exempt from the Public Record Act bears the heavy burden of establishing the exemption's application to a particular record. RCW 42.56.550(1); see also Rental Housing, 165 Wn. 2d., at 535. DSHS' failure to carry its burden of proof that the audio recording is a "record" as defined in RCW 13.50 et seq., is fatal to its claim of exemption.

⁵ At trial, DSHS did not offer any evidence that the audio recording was kept in the "official juvenile court file" or the "social file" or any other evidence that the audio recording was utilized in a dependency proceeding. In fact, DSHS did not offer the audio recording itself. Certainly, DSHS had access to individuals and/or documentation capable of supporting its claimed exemption.

Considering the lack of evidence that the audio recording is a "record" defined in RCW 13.50.010, DSHS argues that *all* of its records are exempt pursuant to 13.50 because it is a "juvenile justice or care agency." DSHS seeks an exemption that would swallow the rule.

RCW 13.50.010(1)(a) defines the entities considered to be a "juvenile justice or care agency," as:

(a) "Juvenile justice or care agency" means any of the following: Police, diversion units, court, prosecuting attorney, defense attorney, detention center, attorney general, the legislative children's oversight committee, the office of [the] family and children's ombudsman, the department of social and health services and its contracting agencies, schools; persons or public or private agencies having children committed to their custody; and any placement oversight committee created under RCW 72.05.415;

If DSHS' interpretation of RCW 13.50 is adopted, many public entities would be exempt from the Public Records Act, including: the courts, police departments, schools, prosecuting attorneys, the Washington State Attorney General's Office, prisons, foster parents and certain legislative committees.

Each of these entities is also defined as a "juvenile justice or care" agency under RCW 13.50.010. DSHS' approach would mean that all "juvenile justice or care agencies" would be exempt from compliance with the requirements of the Public Records Act.

DSHS' interpretation conflicts with RCW 42.56.030 which requires that exemptions must be "narrowly" tailored. Any exemption that would exclude many governmental agencies, including our state's largest (DSHS), from public transparency cannot be considered "narrow."

Moreover, in recent years, the Supreme Court of the State of Washington has determined there is no blanket exemption for other "juvenile justice or care agencies." *See*, *e.g.*, *Sanders v. State of Washington*, 169 Wn.2d 827 (2010) (Attorney General's office found in violation of the Public Records Act); *Sargent v. Seattle Police Dep't*, 167 Wn. App. 1 (2011) (Police records subject to the Public Records Act); *Lindeman v. Kelso Sch. Dist. No. 458*, 162 Wn.2d 196 (2007) (school district found to have violated Public Records Act); *Citizens v. Dep't of Corr.*, 117 Wn. App. 411 (Div. II, 2003) (Prisons subject to the Public Records Act and can be penalized for violations).

On appeal, DSHS' interpretation of RCW 13.50 *et seq*. is at odds with the testimony it presented at trial. Ms. Wiitala, the "highest official" at DSHS concerning public records matters, disagreed that all Children's Administration records are exempt from public disclosure:

⁶ To the extent DSHS believes that there is a conflict between the Public Records Act requirement that its exemptions be construed narrowly, and any provision of RCW 13.50 *et seq.*, our legislature makes clear that the former prevails. *See* RCW 42.56.030.

- Q: You would agree with me that not all Children's Administration records are exempt from public disclosure, correct?
- **A:** Correct. RP 140 (8/31/2011).⁷

DSHS relies exclusively upon this Court's opinion in *Deer v*.

DSHS, 122 Wn. App. 84 (2004), in support of its claim that all Children's Administration Records are exempt. However, the *Deer* decision is narrow -- holding only that RCW 13.50.100 exempts *dependency* records -- not every record of the Children's Administration:

Deer requested the records that DSHS held for purposes of the *dependency proceedings*. DSHS contends that the PDA does not apply to these records because chapter 13.50 RCW exempts *juvenile dependency records* from the PDA. The trial court agreed, as do we.

Deer, 122 Wn. App. at 90 (emphasis supplied).8

Deer does not support DSHS' claim that all Children's Administration records are exempt from the Public Records Act. Rather, Deer's holding is consistent with the definitional section of RCW 13.50.010(c) which limits its application to a circumscribed class of dependency records. See also, In Re the Matter of Dependency of T.L.G., 139 Wn. App. 1, 28 (Div. I, 2007) ("Chapter 13.50 RCW governs the

⁷ And as noted above, DSHS' own attorneys in the negligence action recognized that Amber's audio recording would be provided pursuant to Amber's public records requests. Ex. 7.

⁸ This Court used the term "dependency" at least 15 times in the *Deer* decision. Not once did this Court use the term "Children's Administration" or suggest that all of DSHS' records are exempt from the Public Records Act.

maintenance of and release of *dependency records* by juvenile justice and care agencies.") (emphasis supplied).

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